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THOKAS GRADY, calleda
of the People, having beem duly sworh

follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, MARSHALE: |
Q Where do you live, Mr/ Grady? A 08? 
Q These gentlemen away over hjro oanaotw
Vhere do you live? A 487 'yh avenue,
Q That is in Brooklyn? A Yes, sir,
Q What is your businollv‘A' At the praa‘nt ﬁ
not occuplied at the present time, |
Q Where were you working on ﬁho zl't'dﬂrf.i
1906? A Levi, Sondheimer & Company.
Q Howxlong have you bren employed there W‘
A I was there dbout three mnnthl, as no.r nl !~‘.t 
A In what oapasity? A It is & laes NisEe
Q What did you do there? A I was a cm mu,
out errands and packages and so forthw &
Q Now, Levi, Sondheimer & Company have an at!ini,ﬂn
this county, have they not? A Yes, sir, they hul' n
store at 514 Broadway,
Q 514 Braodway? A Yes, sir.
Q Now, on the 31st of July, were y::QIn that lt!r!-lﬁlr,ﬁh
the course br your duties? A Yes, sir, 4
Q Did you have on that day, any pr@pﬂ?iﬁ qntru.#§i~b¢ 

you for delivery or for anything else? A Yes, sir.



A What was thomt “rﬂm
MR, KRAM: @c “nt. I objeot “
shown that this witness packed that

the contents of 1%,
A It was supposed f.o -6ontain ——
MR, KRAM: I object to what it was .
tain, ' v
Q If you know? A It was a lace hom.

Q Do you know what was in the package? A l’t. iﬁ't :

did not see the inside of t I» package; what the

contained I did not see,

Q Wheo gave you the puhgo? A One or the olem ﬂ
| piaoo in which I am employed,

Q What was his name? A Well, his name was Pluss, one

of the repreaéntat1NI of the tirl'hnre'pfuint.

‘Q He 'gévo you that package? A !'n,” sir, _

Q. What were you to do with the pﬁohgo? A I was O‘M
to deliver it a'g a place in Leonard street, _

Q How far away from your office? A Well, the plulu
located at Broadway . and Spring strees, ™

Q What was the name of the plado on Leonard where you
were going with the package? A '511. I l.in't"uitl
sure of the name at the present; I don't recollect,

Q You left your store about what time im the day?

A Around a quarter to ten,
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‘Q In thrinrntu? A' Yes, e!.n
' : 2 Q You went down Broadway? A '“.'. sir,
| Q On what side of the ‘stréet? A On the

‘20ing downtowm,

Q Until you got to I.conn.rd street? A Yes, m
Q Which way did you turn on Leonard urcoﬂ A 2 o
to the rightb : i P

: 'Q' That is going west? A Yen, sir.

: Q Where did you first see this defendant? A “‘”
way between Broadway and Church ltroet;

Q Did you have the pmhco with you? A ch, l!.r.

Q How big a package was it? A It atcu'ﬂlmﬁ m
high (illustrating). » :

Q Well; how big, was it as 513 as that table or that
square? A About that loné (111u;ti-ut1n;).

Q About thé.t long and about how high? A About that
high, ‘ |

Q A big box? A Yes, sir; a big bex; but the package
was not just one box, exactly, but a couple of boxes lll
tied around in one package,

Q Now, you met this defendant on the \ltl‘e.f.' Had you
ever seen him before? A No, i.tr.

\Q Did you speak to him first or did he lpoik te ﬁm A

He spoke to me, sir,

Q What did he say? A He came up to me and he says,



 #You come from Levi, Sondheimer?® xprw that I
“he said, !'I come from so-ani~e0, and they mtmm '.
QO H6 d1an’t say Lo camé frem sesanteset i vm.
peating the firm from which he came, _ ﬂ
MR, KRAM: I object to that and ask that it be

stricken out? ‘ | v

THE COURT: Yes, ‘ S

Q He said that he came from the firm t}]vhuh the m

cel was directed, whére you were going? A Yes, sir.
Q But you don't remember the name of the nm A No, sir,

I do not, | It is on the receipt beok which he _amu.,jv -
Q What else did he say to you? Tell us all the col

satiofx that you had with the defendant? A He came u’ to me ?

and he says, "I came from this firm*, = but I don't recolleect o
the name at the present time; he says I have bean uui

for the package, and they want it right away", and he w ‘me
an envelope ’, which he said contained a.u check; he sm,

"We want the rest of the goods; we ord.urod some m m.
we want them right away, You better go right back ul‘

get them;' I took out the receipt book, handed him the res
ceipt book, and he signed the receipt book, A

Q 'You went right back to get more goods? A ';11,, X

had another package in another hand and I went forward with &
and I got right back to the store, and I reported the .mo at

the store,




T T A T S e =

Company

your own store, of Levi, Sondheimer & Gﬂlwlly’ A I iﬁﬂi
back to the store and the check “hich he had handed to m?
what was supposed to contain a chzok I gave to tho !Ilhﬁ'?%-=
Q The envelopo? A You, sir.
Q What was 1t? A It was supposed to contail a Ghll!h '%gf
and the cashier ===
Q 'hat did he give you? A Which one?
Q The defendant, when you gave him the package and he
signed the receipt, what did,he.givo you? A He gave ll‘ij-:k
enve.lopq which he said comtained a checks
Q An envelope? A Yes, siri
Q Was it sealed? A Yes, sirs

Q It was sealed? A Yes, sirs

Q Who was it addressed to? A TLevi, Sondheimer &

Q Where is the envelope, do you know? A I lost it im
the confusion, sirs |

Q What did you do with 4t? A I handed it to the gashier
and he asked me WhQre I got it,

Q Not what he said to you, ¥You handed it teo the euhM
A Yes, Bir,

Q Now, did you make a complaint te the police? A !’OIM | »



Q Mrum A Yu. s:l.r. : i Ea
Q 'hon? A After Landing him the chll ! M

stairs and inquired if there was more gooll m
- said "No"; and I went right out again to where I 4
" that padkage, = I went to the firm the book mau
. Af it was received, and they said "No*, thcy MM
for it,
S8tricken out by consent,
Q You went to the firm where this package was M
to be delivered or where you were to deliver it? A Yes, ﬁr-
Q There you had a conversation with some one? A Yes,
sir, ‘ f .
Q As a result of that xcoxxv'erlnt.ion_ what did youdﬁ" A o
Well, they said === , s :
Q Not what they said, what did you de uftor- you had thil
co\nver'sgtion with some one in ‘L‘um.rd street? A I went down
to the Leonard street station house and rcpﬁrtod the u‘tﬁnr'
"there and they said they wbuld send a man O}It o
Q Not what anybody said. You made a omhlnt in the sta=
tion house? A Yes, sir,
Q Now, when did you next see this defendant d’ﬁcr_ that?
A Well, when I was called to Hoadq,wtorl to identify nn.
Q How long after the 31st of July was that? A That was

in November, as near as I can recollect at the present time,

Q The following November? A I don't know the date.



Q In November? A Yes, sir,

Q Where did you see him at police ors? .
one of the rooms; I don't know ihick room (t m. ;

Q How big a room was it? A Well, it vas & room ab
fifteen feet square, : | i K

Q V\AHow many people were in it when you un{;_int’;tm‘
A Well, I could not say, :

q How many, two? A No, sir. . o

Q More than two? A There was about, say about ity i
as near as I can recollect, | |

Q A room full of people? A fu, eir, u1 muq
around the room, ‘ - e

Q ILined around against the wall, were they? A Yes,
sir, in the centre of the floor, |

Q Where was this defendant? A He was in the centre of
the floor, lined up with the other gentlemen, and I was sups
pbsed to lay my hand on ==~ ' ‘

MR, KRAM: Objected to,

. Q Not what you were supposed to do at all, You saw tho
defendant standing there? A Yes, sir,

Q Did you say anything to him? A No, lil".

Q What did you de? A The officers directed me ---

Q What did you do when you saw the dﬁfendut standing
there? A Well, I put my hand -~~~ I looked at him and took

the exact dimensions in whioh he was standing when he was talke



“Soe %o e, when he was gortiNg Ahe parcel,
to lay my hand on him, ' » :
Q Not what anybody told you to'do? A T L
® upon him, _ | |
Q You went toward him and laid your Mu "
sir, when I was positive, ‘ ‘
Q Then he was placed under n.r.n.t‘? A !ea'!.,‘
L i Q Have yoix any doubt in your mm but ﬂn
defendant is the boy that took the package on mtw,
A No, sir, no doubt; positive he is the boy,

Q Positive that is the boy? A Yes, sir, i s

-

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, KRAN:
| Q Now, Mr. Grady, how long have you bl‘l mw
A lAt the presgent time? |
Q Yes, A For about since the first of ,tho'ymy
Q Where were ygu»o,mploy.d thon“? A The first of the year
at John D, Murphy's, 502 Grand street, New York, ’
Q How long were you in their employ? A About three
or four months,
Q What were your duties there? A I was a a:l.crt
there, 4
Q Did you leave veluntarily, or were you discharged?

A Yo, sir, T left voluntarily.
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" three months,

‘part of August when the 31st of August --- yes, sbout

~store, Overbeck Brotheri, 561 Columbus aWenue,

- s e S REL VR o e s VAN 5 gy

Q Who were you mzw'wun before m
Sondheimer,

Q You say you wers with them three months? A

Q@ You left voluntarily? A Yes, sir,

Q When did you ontor the employ of Inﬂ’," v
& Company? A Well, I don't just remember the M 0n1

Q Well, if you were there three months and ro'u m ‘.‘m
the early part of August, you must have entered um m

employ about June? A I don't see how I coumld hmro th m

August, I left the latter p(ft of August., _
Q@ You must have entered theiri employ about June? A Some=
where about that,

Q Where were you employed before that? A In a grecery

¢ How long were you with them? A Five years,

Q Now, did you testify before the magistrate that the
package was taken from you on Church street? A Church ltf“i -
well, -=- :

Q Did you or did you not? A Well, in the present
confusion I got mixed up in the street, L

Q@ Did you or did you not testify in the ponn ém‘i
before the police magistrate that the package was taken on

Church street? A VYes, sir, first off,



Q You testified in your direct examination that it 4
taken on Leonard street? A Yes, sir, I did, ' '

Q That is correet? A leonard street bom “ “
one block from what I was directed to, where the parced
was directed to, : .

Q Then you were mistakem when you testif ied Wﬂ m- e
mintrate that the puohgo was taken from you omn m -
street? A Yes, air, I was, <l W R e s

Q Have you made any other mistekes in this case?

A Not that I know of, sir,

Q Did you ever see this defendant before that m
A No, sir,

Q You never saw him between that dw and the ttll you
picked him out in police headquarters? A No, sir,

Q Now, when you had thaf. package in your posnmtél
was it addressed? A Yes,'sir, it was. |

Q This boy did not see the package before you finally
gave it to him, did he? A No, sir.

Q Well, will you please oxpla.in to thu courtand Jury ; ‘
how that boy knew that that package was addressed to_tha people '
you say it was addressed to?

Objected to,
THE COURT: He may answer that if he knows,

If he does not know he can say he does not,

A Well, the only object that I have in it e«=e




Qq We don;t ask you your object, Please cupllﬂl to iin

Court and jury how it was that that boy kmew the m-

of that package? A Well, I cannot say that == 4f T am

asked the object in leaving the store =- I left th. m:ﬁl m',

Q I don't ask you the objeet of leavingthe store, S
THE COURT: You have asked him to explain, Iet |

him explain, You have opened the doof. ’ |
THE WITNESS: On‘ leaving the store I had ugquite a

heavy package, and I had it ovér my shoulder, Corner

of Howard street and Broadway there was a gentleman

familiar with the neighborhoof in which T live; he came

up to me and put out his hand to shake, He says, *Dom't

you know me?" "Well", I says, "I kind of knoy'you by
sight from being around the neighborhood in which I
live®, And he said, "Yes,* I had the package low,
kinf of, and he said "Where are you going?" I told him
just about where I was going and he asked me where I
was working and I explained where I was wcrnnc, and 8o
he says, "Well, I am in & hurry, now, I got to go up¥;
and he crossed across going uptown, and as he got across’
the street he went =~« I turned around to 1look at
'something and he catecornered over and when I looked
around again he was on t‘ho catecorner from which I was

standing., When he saw that I seen him he waited for




‘a oar to come along -mltnuh ullhom confy
them and went away, When I went down
again, and he said, "I see we meet m.‘! »"_ !
he took a cigarette .'tm his pookot, and he ul& 7
you have one?* I said, "All right, I will take one.®
1 ltuok it in my pocket., When I got as far as :”“”x;’;”
street I met thia gentlnnnn here,
Q@ ¥e wasn't the man that had this convor'atiﬂl lld lﬂﬂ'
you the oigarette? A o, air
Q Were you watching this man all the ttln? A. !b., itfi
watched whioh gentleman? : i .
Q -rhu man that came up and spoke to you? A I ealy m
him that once when he 'ent catercornered.
Q@ You watched his moyem-ntl? A !bs,'dir, firit Lo
Q Did you see what he was doing; you saw him eross and
recroes, didn't you? A Seen him going acrose. 7
Q What was your object in watching his movements? A I _
don't know, just happened to turn around, : |
Q You say you watched him for how long? How long a time
did it take him to cross and.fa-oronl? A About a secend or
two seconds, ( |
Q@ That was the only time? A Just enough to turn around
back again; I don't know what drawed my attontion but I

happened to see him there,

Q Did you see him after he gave you the oilgarette and




* “l.m you that time you just testified to? A m m

he repruontcd himself to me from the firm,

'so' correctly that I took his word;for it,
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time, no, sir.

Q Now, you gave this defendant the package ‘ m
lenution that he came from this firm to which the m
was addressed? A Yes, sir.

Q Did you believe it to be your duty to mqnin - |
were you sent to deliver a package to a Doy or te tho ylm {

of business of the addreuoo? A The pl.aco of bnliml. but

Q You thought that was sufficient? A He explained it

Q Did you epen the envelope? A No, ’sir, I aid not,

Q You gave him the package on the simple repro'l'm?tui ‘
that he éamo from the place to which the package was aunmﬁ
A Yes, sir; I presented him the receipt book, |

Q wave you got the receipt book? A One of the firm's
representatives has it in his possession, 4pre'.on1\'. at ml
time, |

Q How far away was this fr he place of bull:!ull of
the firm to which this package was addressed? A ILeonard
street the place wal;.

Q This was on Leonard street? A Yes, sir, where he took
the package from me,

Q How far away was it from the place of business?

A Prom where it was directed t9? About a bloek.



Q About a block away? A  Yes, sire

Q You didn't think it was your duty te “ $

was athe proper purty to whom the package was
A TFrom the way he pronounced it I took his word rtr ltd
Q How many packages have you delivered for the tma

Lovi, Sondheimer & Company while you were in tholr‘ !

A I cannot exactly state; I have no acocount,
Q Was it over one hundred? A I camet q@couity
Q Was it more tham two hundred?“A I cénuof atcoan¥, ;
Q@ Can't you givo us some idea of how many? ‘
Objected to, Objedtion sustained, Exception,

Q Can you not recall the identity of nni p‘flau‘aﬁhﬂr' : 
than this defendant that you delivered a package te ihilﬁ.ll
the‘employ of Levi, Sondheimer & Company? A- No, nir..not @t,
the present time,

Q You cannot? A No, sir.
Q This defendant is the only boy you ever remember des
livering a packagehto for that firm? A On the street ==
in the office of the firm -~ I met nobody, not on‘£ho streety
no, sir,
Q You did not see this defendant until you saw him
sometime in November in pblioo headquarters? A Yes, sir.
Q You saw about fifty people in that room? A About thaty
yes, sir,

Q You testified, if I quote you eorrectly, "I was told te



X :
lay my hand upon him? A Yes, sir.

Q Is that 02 A I was t01d this ===

Q Who told you that? . A One of the officers, o s
‘.. Q 1Is the officer in Court, do you see hin.tﬁzcourt *’i‘;éi_?é
' A I could not roooéntsn him at the present time, tlt; b |

Q But some person told you to lay your hund'oh the dew ,1‘
fendant? A Yes, sir. ' b

'Q That is true? A Yes, sir;
BY MR, MARSHALL:

. Q Now, what did the officer 6311 you? ,¢'_,
MR. KRAM: One moment, He has testified that the

officer said to lay his hand upon him,

€
Objectdédén overruled, Exceptien,

Q What did the officer tell you or say to you.whnﬁ you
il went into the room? A He said, if I identified the man that
took the paroelloff me, to lay my hand upoh him,

Q I show you this receipt book and ask you if you racuﬁt-
nize it? A Yes, sir; that is the receipt book which I
had in my possession at that time,

Q Now, looking at that receipt book and refreshing your
recollection fyrom it, can you £e11 us héw where the pqokngo
was to be delivered t0? A Crouse & Company, Lnnitod, 43
Leonard street, In the same building there was lIeon iblllll.

Q What is the number on Leonard street? A 43,

Q Heow close to Church street is that -~ how many doors



from Church street? A Well, it is pretty M”m
Franklin street and West l";dw, near West MJ. L
Q Between Church and West Broadway? A Yes, sirj |
it is nearer to West Broadway. | :
Q@ That is how you came to say in the police IOUri,ii*f
on Ghurch street? A_ i
MR. EKRAM: Why don't you let him testify ﬁb‘ihli§ ;  
MR, MARSHALL: He has testified to it. 1 you
have any remarks to make uddreu them to the court and
don't talk to me, I offer the receipt boek in V
evidence,

Q Is that the receipt book you presented to thnbm 1

i

on that day? A ‘Yes, sir,
Q Show us where he signed it? A The heavy margin there
(indicating).
Q The heavy mark? A Yes, sir, the heavy % one there
and this here,
The regceipt book referred to is marked People's
Exhibit No, 1.
BY MR, KRAM:
Q 80 that the only two times you ever saw the defendant
in yvour life was the time he took the package from you and in
police headquarters? A Yes, sir,
Q I just want you to Rook at the signature on this receipt

book, Will you just show wus on the receipt book where the
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defendant signed his -1memr A (Witness uuum
Where the heavy mark is thoro‘ the heavy margine, the

marks on the two pages, that is ome and that is moﬁw. '

VILLIAM A, DERGATY, called as a witness ﬁl iy
behalf of the People, having been duly sworn, tiﬂtittﬁlvﬁ
as follows: |

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, MARSHALL:

Q Wnere 40 you live, Mr. Deegan? A 221 VWest 121st
street,
Q Where are you employed? A Ievi, sondheimer &

Company, ‘ '

Q You were employed by them in July last?

A Yes, sir. _

Q When did you first see this defendant? A Well, on
the day of his arrest in the police magistrate's cOurt:
Q Did you hear him say anything there at that time?

A YNo, sir,

Q He mever was employed by the firm of Tevi, Bon‘hoinerv\

& Compahy; you never saw him there in your life? A No, slr;
Q That is all you now about this case? A Yes, sir,
Q Now,do you know this particular package that was de=
livered to Thomas Brady on the 31st day of July, 1906%

A ¥Wo, sir, I know what the package contained,




Q Did you see it packed? A I am thi5 
and I saw the goods before they were packed.
Q You saw the @oods before they Itroyui'ti
A Yes, sir, :
Q@ What did they consist or?
ObJeoted to as irrelevant, 1mnntor£sl uut :
Objection overruled, BException, v
MR, KRAM: This witness is sbout totutmﬁ
the contents of a package, He says he saw the ¢:#w
before the package was packed, There 10 no Qﬁldilﬂi
as to what ha.pponad to that package bomm thnt 1
and the tine thay were pa.ckel. e
MR, MARSHALL: If I cannot oonnect these goods
with the package why, that ends it,
BY MR, MARSHALL:
0, Where were these goods when you saw them? A In
what we call our charging counter. ‘
Q Was there anything there to indicate th‘r‘ they were
to go to? A A shipping ticket,
Q A shipping ticket there? A }fba, sir.
Q Did it have a name on 1t? A Yoi, sir.
Q Whatwas the name on the shipping ticket? A h‘M
& Company, Limited, New Orleans, with a New York office and

43 leonard street,
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| A Well, I know the selling price, about eighty=five cents,

' Q That is the firm of A, Krouse & Company, 43 Leo
street? A Yes, sir. |
Q How much lace was there? A It contained thirty
boxes of torchon lace, ‘
Q How lorg have you been in the lace buim?.
A BSeven years, . .
Q Do youknow what the market value of that lace m on
318t of July, 1906? A ¥No, sirj; I don't c:lotty‘hﬁ'lc,’ \

Q@ Do you know or den't you know what the market value was?

MR, KRAM: I ask that that be strickem out, if your

Honor please, the‘ iurket price,

Q Do you or don't you? A I don't know the exact ﬁr’l”.
Q Do you know about the price, ibout the market prtljﬂ-
A About eighty cents a grc'ul-.
MR, KRAM: I object to that and ask that-.thi answer
be strickem out, |
@ Do you know about the market value of that lace, yes
or no? A Well, about eighty cents,
Q Tell me whether you know first or not, Mr yes or
a0? A That is sbout what I know.
Q Now, what was 1t?
Ohjected to as irrelevant, immaterial and income
petent, no proper foundation being laid for this

witness testifying as to walue, His testimeny is that
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value of lace, He might hpw been in othau.-_:_ :

BY MR, MARSHALL:t : ‘

Q Are you familiar with the sort of lace that ‘ll‘

to l!'r?ouue, this particular kind of lace? A. lo.. olm.

more than I am with any of the rest of the Mu |

| Q Are you familiar with all the laces t.httvhﬁ,.
pold? A Yes, sir.

Q Pamiliar with ‘the buying and unug of 1t? A M
familiar with the buying of it, but familiar with the sel
of 4t, ~

Q@ Do you know what kind of lace thia was? A Yes, str.
Q You have seem a great deal of 1t? A Yes, ur.
Q Now, will you tell us what the reasonable market m‘lﬂ
of this hoe was that you saw there on their ocounter?
MR; KRAM: Objected to, May I interrogate this
witness, if your Honor please?
THE COURT: Yes.
BY MR, KRAM: Neow, you had ditferent kinds of tmhqﬁ
laces in your business there havemn't you? A Yes, sir.,
Q They are all arranged by numbers, aren't they? A Well,
all arranged by numbers and prices,
Q And different values, are they not? A Yes, llf‘.

R They are as low as what price? A VWell, do you mean
L 8
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by the dosen or by the grosas?

Q By the gross? A Different prices, the nruiavlnjfru
Q The gross yards? A Yes, sir, |
Q Well, that was what? A 144 yu‘dl.
Q They are how cheap? A As cheap as eighty cents ‘.'rugggwf
Q@ You have laces as a higher price than th.t? A 15!@;  .
sir,
Q Then you don't know the number of this lnncf A Of
; , this partioulni lace?
Q That was in this package? A Yes, sirl

Q What was the number? A 115 line 1,

- f/wJ Q' How long before the package was packed up did you see '
F (' that lace? A Did I see it? Well, I noticed it that
morning.

Q But you saw that lace on the counter there or im your
shipping department with a shipping ticket attached te itf
A vyes, s8ir, |
Q How long before the package yas packed? :
MR, MARSHALL: I object to that, Ne is cross examiné
ing as to this man's expert knowledge.
THE COURT: This is not within your proper cross
examination at this time
Q Have you bought laces of the same kind as 115 line 1%
A 115 line 1,

Q In what capacity are you odnnootod with Levi, Sonde
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g;m;, :
+ heimer & Oow A T check the Tevi, Sondhsimer

laces and send out all their import orders, and. I am W
with prices, (i
® Q You mean shipping? A No, sir, we have got a shipping
clerk for that, | ‘ | ‘
Q You are a salesman there? A What they call w
clerk, Taking charge of all their orders coming in fﬁﬁﬁ_th‘tr '
faotories, | | _ | .
Q Your knowledge of values on these cases is simply tht 2
they charge? A Yes, sirs
- Q You have nothing to do with the buyinslqr selling?
A T¥No, sir, ‘ '
MR, KRAM: I object to this witness's testimony,
° MR, MARSHALL: I think he is eminently qualified,
Objection overruled, Exception,
Q Anlwer the question, Now, iill you tell us whuf the
market value of the 32 grose of laces was that you saw
on the counter, within a cent or se? A Well, now, of course,
your Honor, this is private inforultion; wo.hayo different
selling pridea to different people,

Q What is the reasonsble market value? A I should judge
between seveniy and eighty centsj that i8 aB near as I can
get at 1t, |

Q That is a gross? A Yes, sir,

Q Between éighty and seventy ocents a gross? A Yes, sir.
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~ was packed,

Q How many gross of laces were in the package? A Thir

gross,

CROSS8 EXAMINATION BY MR, KRAM:

Q You say you saw those laces in the shipping idq e
partment with the ihipping ticket #tt&chod toﬂtlion before it
was packed, bid you see it pabknﬁ? A Yo, ltﬂtvx'thtuk»alii

Q You did not? A No, sir/ % i -

Q You don't know how long éofore it was packed that you

1ooked.#t the goods, do you? A ¥o, sir, I do net} 'dbeut

half past eight in the moming, I could not tell you when 1t

Q You don't know when it was paokﬂ‘? A Neo, sir;k

MR, KRAM: We submit, if your Honor please, that
the testimony of this witness as to contents of thlt..
package should be stricken but.

MR, MARSHALL: The testimony of the witness makes the
crime petit larceny., He says ihirty gross at qevonty |
or eighty cents, I will conscnt-that his testimony in
regard to the value be stricken out, I will submit it
on petit larceny. Thirty gross at between seventy and
eighty cents, even at eighty cents it would only be
$24, 80 I will submit the case as one of petit larceny,

THE COURT: - The evidence may stand for what it is

worth.



STANLEY r.rv:r’ono:,uu’_
of the Peoplem having been dulynsworn, |
follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, MARSHALL:
Q Who are you employed bj? A Krouse OOIDIiﬁiu
and Leon Feldman, .
Q They are Jo!nt ooncernl, is that 1t? A lb. Qtr&
are concerns having the same office, New Orleans
having an office in wa York._ 7 e
* Q They have the same New Ybrk office? A !hl. n&r; ﬂ‘n‘

same New York office.

*™¥ Q Did you ever see this defenlant‘hcrc? ¢ Y hawiit‘iﬁ'?;i
nim only im court,
Q. You saw him once before in court? A Yes, sir.:
Q Were you employed there on the 31st day of July,
19069 A Yes, sir, 7 | ; i
Q Was the défendant employed there then? A' No, llr;;
Q At no time within your knowledge has he ever been
employed by A, Krouse Compuny?'A No, sir,

Q Nor by Leon Feldman? A No, sire.

No cross examination.:




3

/M_\ Q What did you see him doing when you plaged him unhr

MICHAEL J, GALVIN, called as & witness o
‘or the People, having been duly sworn, mﬂ
lows: "

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, MARSHALL: ,
Q Mr., Gulvin, you are a detective ltrnant .of m

pal police, are you not? A Yes, sir, .
Q You have been on the police foroe how long? A m

on fifteen yea.rl. : _'

Q Did you plade this defendant under ltﬁlt? A m.m,.

Q Where? A Corner of Ieonard street and West Bm.

b .
in that vicintity,

Q Wnen? A About the 22nd of November, 1906,
arrest? A We had been in the police court dm 'MP’.
previous to that, and we had two pickpocketh that we urrcltu‘b
in the early part of the day and om out ===
Q What did he say when you arrested himj; did you uw
anything to him? A Yes, sirj placed him under arrest; he
wanted to know what for; we asked him what ho hud bm
doing in the neighborhood, and he said nothing,
Q Had you ever seen this defendant before that? A ¥No, sirs
Q VYever had seen him before? A No, sir, | -
Q Well, go om and tell us the conversation? A Well, there
had been a boy with Arnow aﬁd another boy. |

MR, KRAM: Objected to, -



Q You were asked to ntsﬁntpo ommﬁm
defendant said to you and what you said to him, -
A Well, Arnow and aho_thar man by the name of ‘
at Leonard street and West Broadway <=~
MR, KRAM: I object to that, |
Q You can't tell that, A I asked tnuM‘: '
dbing in the neighborhood, and they said noNﬁy a0
answer was not satisfagtory and we 1oc'ked ﬁthcn up ‘u
persons,
Q In police headquarters? A Yes, sir,
q Did you then gend for the gomplaining um
A YNo, sirj; Inspector McLaughlim sent out a nmm "
for all people who had 1o-t 'pacxm- within the past nvam
months to come to police heuqurtera the following morning ;
and see Af they could identify anybody we hl.d thtrovu people
who had stolen their packages, and amongst them ‘m GM#;
Q In answer t_o that alarm the complaining witness Orw
came there? A Yes, sir, _ ' .
Q Were you present in the room when he idqptifiq th‘
defandant? A fes, sir, X O
Q Tell us what he did when he came in? A When Grady m
in the room, Sergeant Dunn told him www |
MR, KRAM: Objected te,
THE VITNESS: He was in charge of the office at the

time,



i
o~

MR, ERAM: We object to this ll';¥§7
Honor, .on the ground that we are not
such conversation, e
THE 'comm Please do not‘inpnk‘ to the D

torpey; speak to the - gourt, ’ ‘

'Q You may tell us what the officer said teo m

if anything? A Arnow was thero —— A 7
Q Where was this det when the complaindng

witness Grady came into the room? A He was ltlnunz m m

assembly room in police headquarters, among ten other p

Q How far away from you was he when Gl‘ldv’npcko' tny
or when Sergeant Dunn ap#ke to Grady? A m’bo ff‘v;t”t.
- Q Five feet away? A Yes; sir, - »

Q Now, I ask you to say what sorgeant Dunn ui‘ to GM,
all the convenation that was carried on there in the promu
of this defendant? A Sergeunt Dunn told Erdy to o0k am
the line of prisoners, and if the man m ‘Qhﬂ" who m Qttmm
his package to go there and put his hand on him; he hﬁh‘
the line of prisoner over, andi he went to'mw and putm
hand on his shoulder, and said, "That is the man,*

Q What did Arnow say? A Arnow said nothing,

Q He was placed under arrolt? A Yes, sir,
Q On the oomplunt of Mr., Gruly? A Yes, ur.
Q Havo any oonverution with him after that? A “lh

Arnow denied it that he had ever n__n;a Grady bctqrn, Q'r knew

-



fummu about the package or anything 1ike w
him downtown to the police court and had a r !

made against the defandant and he n. held for t

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, KRAM:
Q The only reason you arrested this defendant n
his answer was unsatisfasctory to you; is that rm‘t‘,“ m
no? A Yes, sir, 5 |
Q Are you in the habit of arresting puplo whose m
are imuturmtory to your questions? A In oortm Qi
oasos, yes, sir,
| Q This was a oertuin case? A One or them,
Q What made you think he was a suspicious perlu at thﬂt
time? A Vell, we had been in this court dmgtun here ,
in the afternoon with two p:lekpocketl. whom wtarrlltod;_ in
Nassau street; we had them dilohargcd. We uw-mﬁ ;::gl this
man Friedman standing acrbss the street when we' eax; out -91’
the COurt; There had been a boy passing them wh.o m da}rtu
a package on his shoulder, FPriedman veitt over and looked
at the package, and came back é.nd spoke to Arno'; m suse
picious nature of the transaction at the time attracted our
attention, We followed them through this street here over
to Leonard street and West Broadway, When the boy with tk
package on his arm got to ~-= I don't recollect the number

now -= Leonard and West Broadway, he was about to enter



W 'Imuuu and Arnow opoko to him, m m

court? A I think about two or three times,

bunung about his business, Then we 'ut *!
Arno' and asked than what they were doing thcu
what they were trying to do with the boy; thw.’

denied following ‘the boy, denied they had been Oll; %
corner in the street or in this vioinityg ' |
Q The only rouon you arrested them m bnm- tw M
a oconversation with a certain boy having packages? A 'ﬂh
boy.
q You didn't hear 1t? A No, sir
Q Thoy didn't take ;ho package from the boy? _ A ib;

sir,

Q How many times was this boy urravignoa in thepolice

Q Wasn't he arraigned about six or seven times?
Objected to, |
Q How many times did this: defendlnt apponis 16 e B
court in answer to the charge bcforq the ugum#ﬂ A The
morning we arraigned him down there at the request of the
counsellor he had there, the case was adjourned fortye
eight hourss 7
Q Who was the counsellor? A Nelan,

Objected to as immaterials Objection sustained.
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Except ha.

Q Isn't 1t a fact that you sent a mmi' th

of Nolan to see this defendant in the Tombs? A ib;',

C Q !bu Xnow a counsellor by fhz name of Nelan, ""‘*ﬂu*:;;g
A Yes, sir,

Q A friend of yourl, 1nn't he? A No, sir; ﬂl‘i"

/ a friend, I know him as a oounsolor at ilﬂh
Q Has ‘he appe;red in cases wherein you testified tbr‘ﬁhl |
\ People? - i
ObJooted to, Sustained, nxneption. ‘ o o

Q Did you hear the complaining witness tastiqrﬁthi$ l!lbﬁ

: body told him --- that somebody teld thp‘ommpltiatalﬁtiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁw‘f*

- to put his hand on the defendant? A_/;\haard him so testify,

yes, sir.

Q You d;d not tell us that? A No, sir,

Q Did anybody tell him that? A No, sir,

Q He was mistaken about that? A When he was tcll.hnvput
his hand on this one particnlar man -~ he misunderstood your
question.

Q Never mind about that; nobedy teld him to put his hni‘
on the defendant? A Not on that particular man, ‘

Q You had no conversation with the complaining witness
about this particular defendant: did you? A When?

Q At that time? A No, sir,

Q How many people were in the room at that time? A There



were quu a few, ‘
'Q You said ten on your direct examination$ 1 !

‘on the line, and that there were forty or ﬁﬂyg At w‘
after roll call in the mornming and we have over two
Q This line of ten, did that ;:o_nptlt of pecple you hat
arrested on suspicion? , | |
Objected to as immaterial, Objection ou st

Bxception,

CHARLES AR NOV, the defendant, sworn as & vztm
in his own behalf, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION DY MR, KRAM: '
Q At th‘e time of your arrest in November h:t,‘ whom were
you living with? A My mother,
Q@ Did you support your mother at that time? A Yes, sir.
MR, MARSHALL: T object to that as immaterial, We
are not trying the mother, ‘ '
THE COURT: Objeection sustained,
Q At the time of your arrest were you ohm.l in any
business? A Yes, sir,
Q With whom? A Mr, H, C, Arnow,
Q Who is he? A My brother -~ in the real estate business

and life insurance.



' i Where was his offige? A On 150th street all

chester avenue,

Q How long hzee you boga employed by your \wwim"'!:«i_-»‘T
- For the pa.t two yourl. o

Q Does your business require you to leave the OffM
A Yes, ®r, |

Q Do you remember whoro you were on the 31lt ‘ly of w
July, 1906? A It is impoluiblo for me to roamibor Junt"h.ﬁ.
I wag on thst day.

Q Were you on or about that time on Leonard ltr.ot.
Church street near Leonard street? |

MR, MARSHALL: Objected to, He says it is 1

for him to remember,
THE COURT: ¥He may answer,
Q Were you? A No, -sir; A
Q Did you see this complaining witness on.the l‘tml?,
A Yes, sir,
Q When did you see him for the first time in your 1life?
A In headquartor‘l ¢
Q Had you ever seen him before? A Never seen him before.
Q Did you ever take a package from him containing cerw
tain laces? A No, sir, I never did. » -
' Q 'ma you ever represent or say to him that you were
employed by a firm named Krouse & Company, and that they had

sent you for a package? A No, sirj I never seen him and never
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spoke to him, AR
Q I show you People's Exhibit 1 in evidence. Iook
at the signature and the blank lines, and see ihﬁihﬂr iﬁt
ever signed that? A No, sir,

Q I ask you to take this piece of paper and‘tfv e
and make some line like it? ‘ 5

MR, MARSHALL: I object to that as immaterial,

THE COURT: Objeetion sustained,
'Q Do you remember the day you were in police headquarters

when this complainant put his hand oen you =~ the time you

were picked out by this cOmplainingjwitnell? A I think lf
was the 22nd,
Q Do you remember the day,'I don't mean the date?
A It was on the «w- '
Q DO you remember the time? A On a Thurldl&.
Q How many people were in line on that day at that time?
A Well, there was just about five in line with us, that is
three central office men, me and this Mr, Freedman was there,
I don't krow him, Never seen him before.
Q Did you hear anything said to this complaining witness
immediately before he placed his hands on you by anybody?
A I heard a conversation "Point that fellow out on the end
with the blue suit.” ,
Q Were you at the end at that time? A Yes, sir, I was -

on the end,



'Q Did you have a blue suit on? A Yes, sir, I hed

a blue suit on,

q‘ﬁDo you see anybody in this Court room now who
- the QOmpl;ining witness to point you out? A No, sir, I d

Q While you were in the Tombs did a lawyer by the
Nolan call on you? A Yes, sir, ' :

Q Did you have a certain conversation with him? 'A
Yes, sir, . 2 '

Q You were in the Reformatory, were you not, or in the
House of Refuge? A »Yes. sir, |

Q How long wofe you there? A I was there about five
or six months,

Q@ What for? A TFor Grand larceny,

Q Were you in the ﬁOuse of Refuge again after thit?
A No, sirj; never was,

Q Did you send for this Mr. Nolan? A Neo, sir; I

didn't send for him,

CRO88 EXAMINATION BY MR, MARSHALL:

Q Think itLover again, you have done two bits? A No,
sir; Ihwaa convicted once about ten years ago in the New York
Juvenile Asylum, because I did not go te school, and i did
g9 there for taking something. ‘

Q What did they do with you? Did you take something?

A Yes, sir, some iron,



- e e e gy

Q You took -mtmw A !bo, m-.
Q You have veen avay Wios 16 e M!un

once to the House of ncruco? A Yes, sir; I 'il m |
’ . Bix months, I was sent there for eighteen, _I guess, Wt
| done five months to prove my innocence, A |

Q That is the way we prove our innocence, to 4o our time.
Now, what kind of business dees your brother carry on? '}l " A
Life insurance and real estate, _

Q What kind of life ‘innuq_r'nnoe did you do? A T was
working for him in his office.

Q What did you do in his _otftco?'a I used to deliver
‘different policies to different companies. -

Q ﬁame some of the companies that you delivered jouo'lci
to? A The Metropolitan Life Insurance Conpmy;, |
Q Where is their office? A 150th street andifnt-

chester avenue, &
Q Some of the other companies? A The Metropolitan
I‘dentity Company, »
Q Where is their office? A 80 and 82 William street.,
Q What did you go ‘there for, to be identified or to
take a policy? A To take a policy there.
Q What do you do in the real estate end Of’th.'
business? A Well, I used t0 go around for him once ‘u &
while to insure lives and deliver policies for him,

Q Vhat did you d o in the real estate end of it? You



you have anrn-a *hat you did with the m )
" of 1t, Get down to the resl estate end? A T

" Q Can't you tell us what you did in nil

used to go to difrerent companies,
Q You said real estate and insurance? A Well, t
was his business, |
Q What did you do in the real estate mma
I don't know. Of course I don't remember about h!.a W :
but I used to take errands for him, go to the |

~companies,

Q ©Now, let us get down to the day you were ﬂ‘m

What wuj_ the errand you were doing at th.l corner of m
and Ieonard street? A Well, I was not there == I mt um
errand, ‘

Q Where were you when you were arrested? A I nnt on
an errand from 150th street and 'eutohestcr avenue to lc‘.
50 Wall atreet.

Q Now, wait. You say the officer did not see you down
stairs here at all? A Didn't see me where?

@ When two pickpockets were discharged you were not down
here at all? A Here? ik ‘ f P

Q@ Yes, in this building? A I was in the police court

after that,



on my way 'thera when I was arrested,

i)
it

Q You were on your way downtown? A Yes, sir, I

. my way downtown, | ‘ .
Q 'eli, where were you going? A I was gm u (
Vall street, s

Q To see whom? A On an errand for my brother,
: | 'Q Well, what was the errand? A To go and get some po
from that company.

-
Q From whom? A From the Royal Fire Insurmo m

o Q From the Royal Fire Insuunoe Company? A Yes, uﬂ
I Q At 50 Wall street? A Yes, sir. _
Q,' i)id you go down there? A No, gir, I was arrested on
my way. o
Q Where were you,arrvested? A I was arrested on um
street, Leonard and Broadway,
Q Leonard and Broadway? A Yes, sirs
v Q Wheré? A On Broadway, not on the cofu_.r.
@ You went down Leonard street, didn't you? A I
‘went down and right on the cormer of Broadway V!.Ind Leonard
street I was going to go up t0 Greenwioh street, and going

up Gx;envioh street to go to 50 Wall street, I go through



Teonard street ---
Q ‘Ihy didn't you go by way of “uﬁlrtl w
. down Broadway, | 0
;‘—, Q You came dewn Broadway, you got to Leenard stree:
| ~and you went down Leonard street to ¢o't§ uovm b "
To go through Greenwich street? A There '“,.“ |
there at Broadway and Ieonard street, ; | ‘
Q What was the mccident, somebody drop a W e
A Yo, sir, |
O’b;).cto‘.d to, :
Q VWhat was ;he:acoident? A Somebody got hurt by .tm
or a car, i
' Q VWhere? A Right on Ieonard street and Broadwayj
Q Right on the corner? A Yes, siry *
Q Is that what made you go down Leonard street to Greens
wich? A ©No, sir; 1 always do, I just had come wup thrw‘h
Broadway, and s0 I got to Leonard street, I went up'right- QQ
Leonard street and went to West Broadwn&, and I went ..dou _‘
through Wall street when the officnr came and arrested u& "
Q You went west 'on Leonard street? A Yes, sire ‘
Q Then into Wall lﬁreetf A Down Greenwich, down West
Broadway,
Q ¥hich was it West Broadway or Greenwich street?
A Vest Broadway, :

Q You went down West Broadway to where? A To Wall



.

A Yes, sir,

as I was going through 'nt Broadway .

@ To Wall street? A !'u, Bir,

Q@ I thought you m.c you were coming ’bﬂl
street? A No, sir; going down te Wall street,
Q Going down to Wall ntroet on West nw

Q Where were you arrested? A On Inowd ltﬂcﬁ 3

Q If you were arrested corner of Brom M uﬂw‘

‘stre\et how did you get down onto Weet Broadway == did yﬁ

e ]

drag the officer after you? A No, sirj; the érfﬁu‘* ArT e
me on Ieonard street and Broad.vay Jusﬁ as T was a\wut to m
into West Broadway, ' | |

Q Then you didn't go down that ny but you meant to go
down there? A I had got all the way down to the corner of
West Broadway and Leonard street. |

Q Where were you arrested, corn‘er.or West ﬁrmwyny or
Broadway? A On Broadway, right on Broadia.y and Lofomd‘
street, .

Q Did the officer .drug yowu down to'uonm street
and West Broadway? A No, 'aii-; from Broadway, when he
arrested me on Broadway and Leonard atx;cet, he walked ‘down
with me, down to West Broadway and Leonard street,

- Q What for? A He iookod in some bﬁilding theres,

Q What for? A Well, T den't know, ' :

Wpeer ( &




@ Dia he tell you mt roﬂ A To, sir,
Q Did youask him what ho was m
for? A Yu, sir, I asked hn what he m
Q Did you tell him thoro was some buillil‘
that you had been in? A No, lir, I did not, _’! m
any building there,
Q Now, you don't know this man l‘rtodlln at ;n ﬁ
A Yo, sir, T never seen him before, ‘
Q Did you ever see him bofora until you ocame w m
trial here? A I don't think 80, ' '
Q Now, think it over again, A No, sir, nawrﬂ“m
before,
Q,. Don't remember me at all? A No, sirl,

Q Sure about that? A Yes, sir; sure,

Q The first time yvou ever saw me was whon. you wom bﬂw
up for trial to~day? A That is the first time,

Q You don't know Freedman at all? A No, sir’, never
s@2en him at all, . |

Q@ waven't any ides what his name is, have you?
A Well, I don't remember, I heard them promounce his full
name, but I don't exactly know Freedman,

Q Vhat did he say his full name wa#? A When they brought
us into Headquarters -~ | | |

Q Sammy Freedman, wasn't it, isn't that what yom

heard? A I don't know,

4



S L L LR
'Q Doesn't that sound familiar to you, Sammy |
A ”. sir, ‘ S

f( : ‘----

HARRY ARFOW, oauodua'itnmrtrtli
having been duly nom, teutiﬂol as r-uni‘
DIRECT EXAI“INATIOH BY !R m ; |
Q Mr, Arnow, you are a brother of the htonhw
A Yes, sir; I am a brother of the dcrandva.ﬁ_:., |

'Q, Vhat i& your business? A Real utuh “ m r

M broker. ~ T AR
; Q@ On the 31let of July, lﬁoé, w‘ha.t flu your ’bm
A Real estate and insurance brok';r. » o |

Q Where was your office? A 150 street and 'u’ﬁw

avenue,

.

Q Was the defendant in your employ at that time?
] e
A Ye was,

Q How long had he been in your employ? A About am

and six months,

Q Vhat wae his duty? A Well, to attend to some of my

business, such as going down to differe'n't companies, ge’
policies fox" me, delivering applications for policies. i

Q Did you pay him any salary? A I did,

Objected to as utterly u-miuu.

AMndantdinn aiw tained



day? A Well, I sent him down to a plano'oa.)roapp,w{“

' CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR ; MARSHALL:

¢

Q Do you remember whcfo he was on thﬂm
A Well, he was === |
Q Do you remember? A Yes, ur.
Q Do you recall where he was on that day? A
sir,
Q Where? A He was at 150th street and iuit
avenue, at nine o'clock that morning, .

Q Do you know where he was in the afterncen of

to a plumber, and from there dovm t0 another aquui '
company, I think it was the Hu.nonr on Hm ltr«w
MR, nARBHAI.I. Why, you Jnt ut ia cwrt

heard him say he was going to 50 Wall str«t;

MR, KRAM: That was on the day he was arrested;

2y

Q When was your attontion first called to the 8)‘6"

day of July? A Vhen was my attention first called? |
Q Yé:. A Well, when I was notified ths,t.w brother

was arrested, -

Q That was three or almost four months uttoerAT;
wasn't it? A Yes, sir; some time in Novembers

Q Who told you that it was the 31st day of July that he
was aocuud»of committhng & orime on? A Vell, I .Om.t!

see¢ him at the Tombs, aml he told me thathe was arrested for



 §01:¢ accused of taking some package un'tlb7!&i$3 ¢;“

‘that very particular day you nnt him down to a pm y

July. e
Q Then that made you remenber four months m

on Brooke street and Pine street? A I look_od. up w
records, | o
Q Wnat records did you look up? A I trmm
to July si-t. It was on a Tuesday, |
Q What did you trace, what books did you look at “
lhdw you that he went t0 a plumbers on Broome ltrnt-*m *bt
Pine street? A There was a fire 1nlnrm0 pﬁl!.w to b.
dolivered to a party named Weiss, atc 191 and 1’3 lrcﬂ
street, |
° Q 1Is that the plumber? A Yes, sir, that is the plumber,
and from there I sent hime-
Q What was the record, what kind of a book was it that
had the record in 1t? A The book I keep home,
Q What do yéu call it? A Applioa_tionl, entering
applications and policies that I receive and deliver,
Q Do you keep a record of the errands you send the
defendant on? A Well, I do remember keeping a record of the

policy~that was not delivered on that day pa
Q When are the policies delivered? A Well, that one .

particular polioy was delivered on July 31st to John Wekss,



Q Wt els, anything else? A Well, that is mot
and when I received the paymemt for it, I m 1%
Q Do you deliver policies on the day the pom, ”\
forco? A No, sir.
Q Or some time before it goes in force? i “l’ “
after, ' ‘
Q FHow long after? A Well, it all depends on uy
Bomtiml four days,.

Q Was there any day set when this policy m m tnm ﬁ

your book that you keep at home? A That polto? m “ ek

July 23 or 24; T delivered it on the allt of July; I tl'll
this to my boghker, I gave hin that peliey to deliver n‘& |

took the policy down to the Kanmr Fire Insurance

Q Iun’t it a fact that you are cmpxmd by & fire twu-

ance pany on a salary? A ¥o, sir

Q@ What is the insurance company you are cmplos;wv.byv

A The Metropolitam Life Insurance Company.

Q Employed by them? A On a commission bui,l.

Q ¥o selary? A Vo, lir

Q If vou den't do any business you don't ut any M‘!
A No, sir,

Q What was the number 'Qu Broome street where 'Qt‘ll.'l:
place 1s? A 192 and 193,



Q When you saw that book that you keep at home
you knew immediately that you sentthe gefenAuni doom
there? A Yes, sir, ' . |

Q What time did you send him? A He l.ft.ir off
between nine and t&n, and he came back ﬁh‘t~afﬁqnmm~‘; ?E;
‘&bout half past five. o ' ' o oy

MR, MARSHALL: I would suggest that your EQnor ‘?ﬁ‘f;-’
not send this case to the jury to night, | P

THE CORT: Very well} do ym want to sum 1t wp
in the merning? |

MR, MARSHAIL: I would like to iun.it up very
briefly for five minutes,

THE COURT: How much wouJ.d_ you want?

MRT, KRAM: I would like ten minutes, if‘your
Honor pleaﬁO.' ‘ | A

R, MARSHALL: I will take half as long as he takes, .
THE éOUR'.l‘: " You may hawe ten minutes, but th.ut does

not mean fifteen, Mr, Marshall, you can have rivi. Ve

s o

will take thin‘ﬁf ab ﬁeur eleven o'clock as possible,

The Court then admonished Ehn jury, ocalling their
attention to Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Progedure
and adjourned the further trial of the case until toe

morrow, January 3lst, 1907, at 10:30 o'cloock,



Mr. Corrigean closes thb calg'uiq

THE COURT:

>

i

thereon until thé<ea§o-bi'

case tO youe

(Rﬂﬁ‘!__c )
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"ation of the facte you, alona, have to do.

oir dte SRETILPS G L0 TR o3 S S e =y S Y "
J i,‘ FIFRL Y By R TR S " ', 2 ¥ “"-‘YH':.‘FTEJ[ET:‘-"“'NTE"-,1 ;

THE COURT'S CHARGE.
Grand lerceny - second offence = ¢ire
evidence -~ motiwves of wif.néona - motive 0!’

reaionable doubte.

FOSTER, J.: Gentlemen of the Jury:

tion in & very few wordse YOu uult be guttat tﬂ‘
by the law that I will lay dovn to yoa hut w¢ 

The deferdant at the bar, Charles Armow, is cl
with grand larceny in its second degrees .

Larcery is what, in la¥ langu;geiakn0§n:ltfi§@aﬁi  
Thevlaw defines it as the taking Of pernonal prOpcr#nyfﬂn
the true owner, with intent to deprive ‘the true awncr df
its use and its benefit.

The distinction between grand and ﬁ%tit.llrccay tﬁ
dependent, =0 far as this case is concerned, upom the fninp
of the property stolen. If more than $25 is stolen it is
grand larcenylin itse ae§0nd degree. If lese than $26 i
stolen it is petit larceny. |

Now, while the charge here is grand larceny in ite



St

-elerk of the corporation known as Krouse &.COmpany,,tnd that

R e ORI e e

vnluQ to be greater then $26 and, thnrtfitléf
you to determine this ome question: . It'thn"'"wﬁ
of petit larceny, in stealing this prOpcrty rram~
Sondheimer & Company, the complainant. Ir ié“df.
of petit larceny; if not;~acqu1t hime. ,
‘If you entertain any regaohable doubt iﬁ;dﬁfﬁﬁlﬁ
guilt of the defendant, give him the bemefit of Mtﬁ
acquit him. | ‘  .
This case differs from the ordinary ciia1°t 1lvﬂ§ﬂt>

1 e . ¢
3

in this, that the possession of the property, dtoisi

claimed,was obtained by this detendlnt by false !’fff?f_ﬁy?
tione A false representation in order to be the basis if

larceny must be &s £0 an existing fact,and the Poﬂplo clainﬁﬂ'

2 L
here that this defendant falssely pretended that he was a

as such clerk he was authorized to receive the‘paokago in
question, the subject of the larcenye. And the PQOpic claim
that that statement was false and untrue and that it was ‘
mede with intent to obtain the‘poaaeaaipn of this property
for the purpose of stealing it. If you find that, frﬂn.thi';
evidence, &nd that pursuant to the false raproaontat@onl
that he did steal this property you then; properly, vili‘
convict him of petit larceny, but if these elements have

not been proven, beyond a reasOnable doubt, you may acquit




R AT A 5

‘That ie all there is in the case, gentieme

The jury retired.

After 4.10 P. M. the jury returiqdv ‘
THE CLFRK: Have you agreed upon & v.y@4¢§f£
THE_FOREMAN: We have uots e
THE COURT: Do‘you think you.cau agrcc?’lrr
THE FOREMAN: ©No, sir; we cannot; ey
THE COURT: YOu have now had three ruumw.“
deliberaté on this case. If you cannbé agree thﬁrﬁf&

no use in‘keeping ybu longer together. If there &l',ﬂvr

question of fact troubling you T will heave your;’

refreshed by the Stenographer reading to you the ttctﬁlﬁu1¢

If there is any question of law that is troubltna iﬂu
I will be glad to give you further 1natruction. B@-y@ur
know of any question that you desire t0 ask?

THE FOREMAN: No, sir; I do ﬁot. ' :

THE COURT: Has any gentleman any quesiicﬁ'hn deiifti
to ask? .

THE FOREMAN: NO, sir.

THE COURT: Then, gentlemen, there is no use in

keeping you longer together and I discharge you from rurthei

consideration ot this case.

(The defendant was remanded.)
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